IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY LAWRENCE, APPELLANT CASE NO.: SC00-2290

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 94-397CF

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA, APPELLEE

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF 3.850 MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF

JOSEPH F. McDERMOTT, ESQUIRE McDERMOTT LAW FIRM, P.A. 7116-A Gulf Blvd. St. Pete Beach, FL 33706 Ph: (727) 367-1080, Fx: (727) 367-9940 SPN: 00002251, FBN: 052469 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court and the following symbols used:

- Transcript of Original Trial Testimony (Volume IV through VIII)
- TS Transcript penalty phase
- R (Record of appeal Original Appeal) (Vol. I through IV)
- TT Transcript of 3.850 Amended Motion for Post Conviction Hearing
- RR Record of 3.850 Amended Motion for Post Conviction Hearing.
- SR. Supplemental to Appeal

Appendix

A Statement of Facts from the Trial is included, followed by a Statement of Facts pertinent to the 3.850 Motion Appeal.

A copy of the Supreme Court decision on the initial appeal appears in the Appendix. (Appendix 1)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of Santa Rosa County indicted **GARY LAWRENCE** on August 8, 1994 for the murder of **MICHAEL DEAN FINKEN**. In addition, the indictment charged Lawrence with conspiracy to commit murder (Count 2); robbery with a deadly weapon (Count 3); and grand theft of a motor vehicle (Count 4). (R 1-4) The defendant entered a plea of not guilty to these charges.

The parties stipulated to the identity of the victim – Michael Finken. (R 200) After the trial, the jury found him guilty as charged in the indictment of first-degree murder, conspiracy to commit first-degree murder and theft of a motor vehicle. (R 201-202) On motion of Mr. Lawrence, the trial court granted a judgment of acquittal on Count 3 – robbery. (TR 624) As a consequence of this decision, the trial court also eliminated felony-murder as a predicate for conviction in Count 1. (TR 624) The trial court reduced the charge in Count 3 to petty theft (TR 624-625) The jury found Mr. Lawrence guilty of this as well.

Mr. Lawrence moved for a new trial on March 27, 1995 on a number of different grounds. (R 208-209) The motion was denied. (Vol. IV-612) After a sentencing phase hearing, the jury recommended the penalty of death on the first-degree murder conviction by a vote of 9 to 3 on March 27, 1995. (R 203) The trial judge entered a written order sentencing Mr. Lawrence to death on May 5, 1995. (R 239) In doing so, the judge found three aggravating factors – (1) the murder

was committed while Lawrence was under sentence of imprisonment; (2) the murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R 231-234) While the trial judge found no statutory mitigating factors (R 234-235), he did find some nonstatutory mitigation while rejecting others. (R 236-238) The result was that in the opinion of the trial court, "The three statutory aggravating factors far outweigh the mitigating factor in the instant case, and the death penalty is the appropriate sentence in this case." (R 238)

On Counts 2 and 4, Mr. Lawrence was sentenced to 5 years to run concurrent with each other. (R 245, 250) On Count 3, petty theft, Mr. Lawrence was sentenced to time served. (Vol. IV-615)

From these convictions and sentences, Mr. Lawrence filed a timely notice of appeal on May 11, 1995. (Vol. II-256)

The Supreme Court of Florida affirmed Defendant's conviction and death penalty on August 28, 1997. (Appendix 1) The United States Supreme Court denied *certiorari* January 20, 1998.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE -

3.850 PROCEEDING

Mandate from the Florida Supreme Court was filed October 6, 1997. Notice of Affirmance of the Death Penalty was filed November 2, 1998. *Certiorari* to the United States Supreme Court was denied January 20, 1998. Conflict counsel was appointed November 5, 1998 and 3.850 Motion for Post Conviction Relief filed January 19, 1999. Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief was filed April 22, 1999 (Appendix 2)

After a <u>Huff</u> hearing, the trial court set an evidentiary hearing for June 7, 2000. The court's order limiting issues on the 3.850 Motion was entered March 8, 2000. (Appendix 3)

Evidentiary hearing on the 3.850 Motion was held June 7, 2000 (TT 1-90) and Order Denying the motion entered October 11, 2000. (Appendix 4) Notice of Appeal was filed October 23, 2000.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A complete factual finding appears in the Florida Supreme Court decision Lawrence vs State, 698 So. 2d 1219. (Fla. 1997) (A copy of the opinion appears in Appendix 1.) Defendant also submits a summary of facts herein and includes factual matters relating to the 3.850 post-conviction motion determination.

On the morning of July 29, 1994 Charles Haney, a contractor, found a

charred body by the road in a new subdivision in Santa Rosa County. (T 191) After investigating this murder, the sheriff's office arrested Gary Lawrence, and the state charged him with first-degree premeditated or felony murder, conspiracy to commit murder, armed robbery of less than \$300, and auto theft. (R 1) According to the evidence produced at trial, Lawrence was released from prison on January 10, 1994. (R 455) He met Brenda Pitts shortly thereafter, and the two married in March. (Defendant's exhibit 4 at 4) They did not live together long, however, and at the time of the murder Lawrence was not living in Brenda's apartment. (T 630; 633; see also T 260) The victim moved into Brenda's apartment a couple of weeks before the murder. (T 260)

In his confession, Lawrence told Charles Grice of the Santa Rosa County
Sheriff's Office that he and the victim drove Brenda to work in the victim's car on
the morning of July 28. (T 423) They arrived at a friend's house around 10:30 to
11:00 a.m. (T 219) and left around noon to pick up Brenda. (T 220; 236)
Lawrence, Brenda, and the victim came back to the friend's house before 3:30 p.m.
(T 244) The victim was drunk and went inside to lay down on the couch. (T 221;
237) Brenda went in to check on the victim several times while the others stayed
on the porch drinking. (T 223; 238) Lawrence said that he "was tired of seeing
Brenda going in to Michael and talking to Michael" (T 239) and threatened to beat
the victim and "sling him through the window." (T 240) Lawrence and Brenda

argued. (T 240) Lawrence and the victim talked, however, and shook hands. (T 241) When Brenda started in again, the friend told them to leave. (T 227; 241)

The trio arrived at Brenda's apartment around 5:00 p.m. (T 264) Just after arriving, Lawrence drew out a knife, threw it on the ground, and punched the victim, who did not fight back. (T 266-67) Brenda and her daughter separated them. (T 267; 311) Lawrence and the victim then walked around the yard and talked and "seemed like everything was all right." (T 267; 312) Lawrence, Brenda, and the victim came into the apartment about two hours later, and the victim lay down on the couch while Lawrence and Brenda sat together whispering. (T 268, 271; 315) Lawrence and Brenda told Brenda's daughter and her friend to go into the daughter's bedroom and stay there. (T 272, 276; 317) The adults gathered several weapons, including a metal pipe and a baseball bat. (T 274; 319) After the adults left the bedroom, the girls heard pounding noises and the victim asking Lawrence to stop hitting him. (T 277-278; 322-23) Lawrence told a neighbor that he beat the victim with the pipe until it bent and, when the victim said he could not move, got the baseball bat and beat the victim with it. (T 362-63) Brenda told the girls to go get Chris Wetherbee (T 281); when they returned, they saw that a mop handle had been stuck down the victim's throat. (T 282)

After the victim was dead, Lawrence and Brenda discussed how to get rid of the body, and Lawrence decided to burn it. (T 285; 333) They went through the

victim's pockets and belongings. (T 367-68) Brenda used bleach on the rug and sandpaper on the wood frame of the couch to remove the victim's blood (T 289; 335), and the couch cushions and the weapons were thrown into a pond behind the apartment. (T 289-90; 335)

The trial court granted Lawrence's motion for judgment of acquittal as to felony murder and robbery. (T 617) Thereafter, the jury found Lawrence guilty of first-degree murder, conspiracy to commit murder, theft of less than \$300, and motor vehicle theft. (R 201; T 751-52) At the penalty phase on March 17, 1995 Lawrence presented testimony from his brother, a psychologist, and a psychiatrist. The jury recommended that he be sentenced to death by a vote of nine to three. (R 203; 564) The court heard argument from the parties on April 27, 1995 (R 571) and set sentencing for May 5, 1995. (R 607) On that date, the court sentenced Lawrence to death, finding that the state had established three aggravators (under sentence of imprisonment; heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and cold, calculated, and premeditated) that outweighed the nonstatutory mitigators. (R 613; 227 et seq.)

Defendant raised fifteen separate grounds in his Amended 3.850 motion. (RR 21-36) (Appendix 2) The trial court summarily denied all but two issues (Ineffective Assistance of Counsel) without a hearing. (RR 102-158) Ground one Ineffective Assistance of Counsel also had fourteen sub-issues, all but two of which were denied. (Vol. I RR 102-158)

The issues permitted for evidentiary hearing were limited as follows:

"Issue 1 argues that trial counsel was ineffective by conceding the Defendant's guilt to the lesser included offenses for the crimes charged, during his opening statement and closing argument of the guilt phase of the trial. He also argues that conceding guilt to the crime of the first degree murder during the penalty phase of the trial was IAOC. An evidentiary hearing will be required on this issue."

"Issue 3 argues that the trial counsel was ineffective for not advising the Defendant he could testify in his own behalf and tell the jury about his history of alcohol and drug abuse and his intoxication on the day of the murder. An evidentiary hearing will be required." (Appendix 3)

Evidentiary hearing was held June 7, 2000 in Santa Rosa County. (RR 2 Volumes and SR) The court took judicial notice of the original trial and record, including guilt and penalty phases. (SR Page 4, 5)

Defendant, Gary Lawrence testified that he was forty-two years old and had a seventh grade education. (SR 8, 9) He was "kicked out" of school for drinking (SR – 10) Mr. Lawrence testified that to his knowledge he did not consent to his court appointed attorney's, Mr. Miller, concession of guilt. (SR 13, 14, 15)

During the penalty phase Mr. Miller argued as follows:

Q "We have never at any time in this case disputed Gary Lawrence's guilt, and we have never at any time in this case disputed the fact or we have never suggested to you that Chris Wetherbee should be held to

the same degree of accountability as Gary Lawrence. We have never told you that." (TS 129 R 554) (Appendix 6)

"Did you authorize him to say that in the penalty phase?"

A Not that I can remember, no. (SR-55)

Mr. Lawrence recalled no discussion concerning his testimony at first between him and Mr. Miller or the court. (SR 17) Had he testified, he would have been able to outline his educational background and drinking habits. (SR 17-18) The trial record also shows that there was no record waiver of defendant's not testifying or agreeing to a concession of guilt.

Defendant's trial attorney, John Miller testified that the case was his first first-degree murder case. (SR 30) Based on his conversations with the Defendant, he felt Lawrence was "apathetic" about the representation. (SR 33) Miller stated he obtained Defendant's consent to pursue intoxication as a defense to first-degree murder. (SR 34)

Miller testified he did not want the defendant to testify in the guilt phase and did wish him to testify in the penalty phase. (SR 36) He stated Lawrence refused to do so. (SR 36, 37) Miller further stated that Lawrence acquiesced in his trial strategies. (SR 40)

Miller testified regarding defendant's right to testify as follows:

- Q In either case, at the guilt phase, when you rested, or in the penalty phase there was no discussion on the record about his right to testify; was there?
- A I don't recall any discussion either in the guilt phase or the penalty phase on the record about his right to testify. (SR 50-51)

Mr. Miller, in describing Mr. Lawrence said:

Q The statement I believe you used a couple of different times, that Mr. Lawrence was not intellectually gifted.

A Correct.

Q That strikes me as kind of unusual. What is -- not intellectually gifted is kind of negative. What was his intelligence?

A It was very, very low.

Q Low?

A It was in the low -- I believe the lowest fifth percentile.

Q Almost retarded?

A Well, as far as reading, and writing, and things like that he was very, very slow.

Q Are you determining he had a lack of education?

A Absolutely. And there was more to it than that. I mean, in addition to the environmental factors, his -- the way he was raised at home. He was given acid at age 10 years old that I'm sure didn't help a whole lot. And that combined with a lack of education. He was very, very slow. (SR 56, 57)

Q In view of that factor wouldn't you think it necessary to present to the Judge that problem of, "I have a man here that's of very limited intelligence, not intellectually gifted and, Judge, would you mind making an inquiry about him

testifying or not testifying?"

A I didn't see the need to do that at the time because Mr. Lawrence was so clear with me from day one and every time I talked to him that he was not going to take the stand. He was adamant about it. And for that reason I did not see a need to make an inquiry like that.

Q In spite of his lack of intelligence?

A Right, because I thought that he understood what I meant when I discussed testifying with him. And he clearly understood that, because he said he was not going to do it.

Q But if he's pleading guilty to the offense, he would have to do that same thing in open court; correct?

A I'm sure the Judge would conduct a plea colloquy at the time.

Q Sure. And the same thing in giving a statement to officers if there's a Miranda warning--

A Sure. (SR 58)

Judge Rasmussen denied Defendant's 3.850 motion by Order entered October 11, 2000. (Vol. II; RR 192-198) (Appendix 4) Notice of appeal to the Florida Supreme Court was filed October 27, 2000 (Vol II; RR 324)

The 3.850 Motion also raised the issue that the state's argument to the jury was a burden shifting argument on comment as to defendant's failure to testify.

The state argued evidence was "uncontroverted" numerous times. (Vol. VII P. T 685) (Appendix 5) The Trial court in its order denying post conviction relief found the arguments to be permissible and that no hearing would be given.

One of the aggravators presented to the trial jury was that defendant was under a sentence of imprisonment and the trial court granted an instruction as to this claim. The state offered testimony of the witness Colleen Poole, a Department of Corrections employee. (R 454-457; TS 29-32) Ms. Poole testified Mr. Lawrence was released on parole at the time of the homicide.

The state argued in the penalty phase as follows:

The State brought forward evidence of Colleen Poole, the probation officer that testified. She indicated and provided you the documentation which indicated that the defendant, Gary Lawrence on July 28 of 1994 was under the supervision of the Department of Corrections. That he had been sentenced to five years in the state penitentiary for offenses. And that he committed this particular act while under a sentence of imprisonment.

An aggravating circumstance, ladies and gentlemen, that is proven beyond any reasonable doubt.

And we can talk about the psychological testimony that went on and on with respect to this case but the bottom line is regardless of the psychological evidence and that type of stuff Gary Lawrence, beyond any reasonable doubt was committing a crime while under a sentence of imprisonment. Colleen Poole basically said all that needs to be done if he violates or does anything is an administrative parole. He was under a sentence of incarceration in the state penitentiary. (R 524; TS 99)

Defense counsel did not object to this instruction or argument.

During the guilt phase, the prosecutor argued numerous times that evidence was

uncontroverted. (T 685-687) (Appendix 5)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant, Gary Lawrence, asserts six issues for review of denial of his 3.850 Motion for Post Conviction Relief.

The first issue relates to the court's denial of an evidentiary hearing as to whether his trial counsel provided sufficient mitigation as to his mental state and excessive use of alcohol. Although the trial judge permitted evidence as to two issues involving ineffective assistance of counsel, it summarily ruled that trial mitigation was sufficient. The 3.850 motion clearly framed deficiencies in trial preparation in that regard, and the law requires an evidentiary hearing on that alone.

Defendant asserts that he should be granted a new trial as to his counsel's concession of guilt in both penalty and death phases. The trial judge in denying 3.850 relief found that the evidence established a tactical decision to argue for less than 1st Degree Murder and found that counsel's concession of guilty in the penalty phase to be "out of context". In any event, there was no on-record waiver of defendant's rights as to any concession of guilt by trial counsel.

In a similar vein, defendant, at trial, did not testify and there was no on-record waiver of that right. The trial judge in denying 3.850 relief held there to be no due process violation for failure to conduct an on-record inquiry although both trial evidence and evidence in the 3.850 hearing revealed that Defendant Lawrence

was severely mentally deficient. It was established that he functioned at a level of a 10 to 11 year old child.

Defendant further urges this court, in death cases, to adopt a requirement of co-counsel. Defendant's trial attorney tried his first capital case solo. One attorney cannot possibly meet the standards of adequate preparation of a bifurcated guilt-penalty trial.

Defendant also asserts error in failure to secure a limiting instruction as to the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator as well as failure of trial counsel to object to prosecutorial argument as "uncontroverted". Such reference was a burden shifting due process argument as well as a comment on defendant's failure to testify.

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING AS TO ISSUES INVOLVING INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSE CONTRARY TO THE V, VI AND XIV AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND SECTION 9 FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

(STANDARD OF REVIEW—INDEPENDENT STANDARD—3.850 ALLEGATIONS NOT CONCLUSIVELY REBUTTED)

One of the fundamental tenets of post-conviction law is that an evidentiary hearing should be granted to a 3.850 movant wherein allegations of effective assistance of counsel are not conclusively rebutted by the record.

The trial court below denied hearing on a number of assistance of counsel issues after engaging in his own evidentiary evaluation of the trial. (RR 102-158) (Appendix 4)

Ground A 1 (3) alleged failure of counsel to sufficiently prepare for the guilt or penalty phases as to defendant's excessive use of intoxicants. Sub-paragraphs 2, 4 and 6 of the Amended 3.850 motion alleges defense counsel's failure to pursue adequate expert testimony in either the guilt or penalty phases (RR 21-36) (Appendix 2)

Defendant's 3.850 Motion specifically alleges:

2. Defendant's counsel did not sufficiently prepare for the guilt or penalty phase of the trial and presented inadequate evidence on Defendant's mental deficiency and long standing use of intoxicants and drugs. The defense of intoxication was ineffectively presented.

Defendant's counsel further failed to establish his excessive use of intoxicants at the time of the homicide and failed in getting testimony or records of nurse Carol Ann Thomas presented to the jury as to his use of intoxicants. This evidence was critical to the intoxication defense and counsel should have correctly pursued its admission or proved up the amount of intoxicants through other witnesses or defendant's own testimony.

* * *

4. Defendant's counsel was inadequate for failure to pursue or utilize adequate expert testimony in the guilt or penalty phase of his trial as to defendant's impairment from intoxicants or drugs.

* * *

6. Defendant's counsel failed to pursue or present adequate evidence of Defendant's extreme or emotional disturbance. Except for psychologist, James Larson, Jr. and psychiatrist, Dr. Galloway, Defendant's attorney did not attempt to present any witnesses or other evidence of defendant's mental or emotional disturbance.

That said experts failed to establish Defendant's severe inadequacy both with respect to waiver of his constitutional rights (Motion to Suppress) and level of alcohol impairment as to guilt and penalty phases. (RR 23, 24, 25)

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