GARY LAWRENCE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-2290

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.___/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4584

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Claim A3 of the amended motion alleged that "[d]efense counsel failed to adequately prepare for trial for failure to advise defendant of his right to testify at the trial (guilt phase or penalty phase) so that the jury was unaware of the extent of his alcohol and drug abuse both long standing and at the time of the crime." (I 23-24). The circuit court granted Lawrence an evidentiary hearing on this claim. (I 104). After the hearing, the court made the following findings in denying relief:

> The Defendant alleges that counsel failed to advise the Defendant of his right to testify at trial and, thus, the jury was unaware of the extent of his drug and alcohol abuse at the time of the offense and throughout his life. Further, on account of the Defendant's diminished mental ability, due process requires an on record determination

> > - 28 -

that the Defendant voluntarily and intelligently waived his right to testify.

Similar to his testimony regarding trial strategy discussions, the Defendant testified at the evidentiary hearing that he could not recall any discussions where counsel advised him on his right to testify. (Evidentiary Hr's Tr. at 17) [SR I 17]. On the other hand, Mr. Miller testified that he had lengthy discussions with the Defendant concerning whether he should testify and the Defendant told him "point blank he was not going to testify in either the guilt phase or the penalty phase." (Evidentiary Hr'g Tr. at 39, 44-45) [SR I 39, 44-45]. Counsel said that the Defendant agreed with his position that the Defendant should not testify in the guilt phase due to the potential information that might be revealed on cross-examination. (Evidentiary Hr'q Tr. at 36-39) [SR I 36-39]. As to the penalty phase, counsel encouraged the Defendant to testify but he refused. (Evidentiary Hr'g Tr. at 44-47) [SR I 44-47]. Based on Mr. Miller's testimony, the Court finds that trial counsel advised the Defendant of his right to testify and the Defendant personally made the choice not to testify.

In addition, the Defendant erroneously contends that counsel should have obtained the waiver of his right to testify on-the-record to ensure that the waiver was knowing and intelligent. However, due process does not require that the Defendant waive his right to testify on-the-record. See Torres-Arboledo v. State, 524 So.2d 403, 410-411 (Fla. 1988). See also Carmichael v. State, 715 So.2d 247, 255 (Fla. 1998) (Pariente, J., concurring in result only). Therefore, the Defendant has failed to demonstrate either a deficient performance by counsel or the probability of a different outcome based on counsel's actions.

(II 197-98).
This claim is governed by the same standards as set out in issue II, supra. First, Lawrence must establish deficient performance by Miller that prejudiced him, i.e., he must show that, but for Miller's failure to inform him of his right to testify, he would not have been convicted and sentenced to death. <u>See Valle;</u> <u>Cherry; Asay</u>. Second, this Court will review the circuit court's conclusions as to ineffectiveness de novo. <u>See Valle; Cherry;</u> <u>Stephens</u>. Finally, the circuit court's findings of fact will not be disturbed if supported by competent substantial evidence. <u>Cherry; Stephens</u>. The record supports the circuit court's findings and conclusions.

Although granted an evidentiary hearing on this claim, Lawrence failed to demonstrate that Miller performed in a substandard manner that prejudiced him. Instead, the record shows that he knew he had the right to testify and affirmatively and adamantly refused to exercise it. Lawrence never stated what his testimony would have been and has not shown a reasonable probability that his testimony would have produced a different result. <u>See Shere</u>, 742 So.2d at 221-22; <u>Cole v. State</u>, 700 So.2d 33 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997); <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 659 So.2d 1253 (Fla.1st DCA 1995).

Citing an out-of-state case, Lawrence argues that this Court should adopt a rule requiring a record waiver of the right to testify. As he acknowledges, however, this Court has considered

- 30 -

and rejected this claim. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Torres-Arboledo v. State</u>, 524 So.2d 410-11 (Fla. 1988); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990); <u>see State v. Singletary</u>, 549 So.2d 996 (Fla. 1989). Lawrence has presented no good reason to reconsider this claim.

Lawrence again complains that the evidentiary hearing was nothing more than a credibility contest between him and Miller. As set out in issue II, supra, however, the court's responsibility at an evidentiary hearing is to resolve conflicts in the evidence. <u>Shere</u>. No error has been shown in the circuit court's denial of claim A3, and that denial should be affirmed.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED LAWRENCE'S COMPLAINTS ABOUT THE PROSECUTOR'S ARGUMENT.

Lawrence claims that the circuit court erred in summarily denying his complaints that 1) in the guilt phase the prosecutor argued that the evidence against him was uncontroverted; and 2) in the penalty phase the prosecutor argued that the state had established the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator. There is no merit to this issue.

In claim A13 of the amended postconviction motion Lawrence alleged that the prosecutor's use of the word "uncontroverted" in describing the evidence against him was a prejudicial comment on his right to remain silent and that trial counsel was ineffective

- 31 -

for not objecting. (I 26-27). The court denied this claim as follows:

M. Issue 13 argues that the prosecutor argued repeatedly during closing argument in the guilt phase that the evidence was uncontroverted and trial counsel failed to object or move for mistrial. The Defendant did not testify and these comments were an unfair attempt to comment on his right to not testify.

(1) Volume VII, p.685 of the trial transcripts documents at least six (6) incidents of the prosecutor's comments on uncontroverted evidence. [DAR VII 685]. These comments on the uncontroverted nature of certain evidence developed during the trial were not an indirect comment on Defendant's right to remain silent. The Florida Supreme Court has addressed the area of permissible comments in Melton v. State, 638 So.2d 927 (Fla. 1994), citing White v. State, 377 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979) which permits the prosecutor to refer to the evidence as it exists before jurv, *i.e.*, that the evidence is the uncontroverted.

(2) The statements are within the area of permissible comments [and] no hearing is required.

(I 109-10).

In its findings the circuit court relied on <u>Melton v. State</u>, 638 So.2d 927 (Fla. 1994), and <u>White v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1979). As Lawrence points out, this Court qualified <u>White</u> in <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 753 So.2d 29, 37-39 (Fla. 2000), based on the remarks made in <u>White</u>, <u>Rodriguez</u>, and other cases cited in <u>Rodriguez</u>. All of the cases relied on, both in <u>Rodriguez</u> and currently by Lawrence, are factually distinguishable.

In Rodriguez this Court held that the prosecutor's argument that there was no evidence implicating anyone but the defendant and a co-perpetrator and that "[t]here were no two sides" was an improper comment on silence. Rodriguez, 753 So.2d at 37. The Court relied on State v. Marshall, 476 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1985), which found that the prosecutor's comment that "the only person the jury heard from" was a comment on silence where only that witness and the defendant, who did not testify, could have testified to the events. Id. at 151-53. Rodriguez also relied on Heath v. State, 648 So.2d 660, 663 (Fla. 1994), where the prosecutor stated that the defendant's brother would be the only witness to testify as to what happened where the brother and the defendant were the only eyewitnesses. Lawrence also relies on Kolsky v. State, 182 So.2d 305, 309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966), where the prosecutor vouched for his witness and stated that Kolsky lied, and Osqood v. State, 192 So.2d 64, 65 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966), where the state conceded that an improper comment on silence was made. Nothing similar happened in this case.

Lawrence's theory of defense was voluntary intoxication and that Brenda instigated the homicide. As pointed out in issue II, supra, the evidence against Lawrence, including his confessions and the eyewitness testimony, was uncontroverted and overwhelming. In the cases Lawrence relies on the evidence was not as strong as in this case, and the prosecutors' comments could be construed as

- 33 -

pointing out the fact that the defendants did not take the stand and deny the crimes with which they were charged. Given the facts of this case, however, there was no way to demonstrate that Lawrence did not commit some crime. As this Court pointed out in <u>Melton</u>, 638 So.2d at 930: "A prosecutor can review the evidence as a whole and point out that it is uncontradicted." This is only what Lawrence's prosecutor did in closing argument.

The prosecutor's argument, on the facts of this case, is not reasonably susceptible to being interpreted as a comment on Lawrence' failure to testify. As the circuit court found, it was within the arena of permissible comments. Lawrence has failed to demonstrate that all reasonable lawyers would have objected to the prosecutor's argument and that the argument prejudiced him. Thus, he has not shown that his counsel was ineffective, and the circuit court's summary denial of claim A13 should be affirmed.

Lawrence also complains, in a single sentence, that the prosecutor improperly argued that one witness' testimony established an aggravator. This is a combination of claims A7 and E in the amended postconviction motion. (I 25, 28). The circuit court summarily denied these claims as follows:

> H. Issue 7 argues trial counsel failed to object or move for mistrial during the State's argument in the penalty phase which sought to shift the burden of proof as to the defense of intoxication and mental impairment.

> (1) The example provided to support the assertion quotes the prosecutor's argument

- 34 -

in support the aggravator for the Defendant having committed the crime while under a sentence of imprisonment. [DAR III 524]. simply Defendant may not file motions containing conclusionary allegations, the motion must allege specific facts that demonstrate deficiency on the part of counsel. Kennedy v. State, 547 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

(2) No evidentiary hearing required.

* * *

2. Claims 2 through 14 (Grounds B through N) have been categorized into 7 identifiable categories and addressed by the court as to their merit for conducting an evidentiary hearing.

A. Category 1, claims that could have or should have been raised on direct appeal.

Claim 5, (Ground E) Due Process Violation on Improper Aggravator Evidence and claim 6, (Ground F) Trial Court improperly admitted hearsay evidence on wire transfer of money are claims alleging the court ruled incorrectly. Both claims were extensively argued during the trial and they could have or should have been raised on direct appeal and are therefore procedurally barred. No hearing is required.

(I 107, 110-11).

The complaint about the circuit court's summary denial of claims A7 and E is insufficiently briefed for this Court to review it. As stated in <u>Shere</u>, 742 So.2d at 217 n.6: "In a heading in his brief, Shere asserts that the trial court erred by summarily denying nineteen of the twenty-three claims raised in his 3.850 motion. However, for most of these claims, Shere did not present any argument or allege on what grounds the trial court erred in denying these claims. We find that these claims are insufficiently presented for review." Moreover, "[t]he purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal." <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) This subclaim, therefore, should be summarily denied. <u>See also Teffeteller</u>, 734 So.2d at 1020; <u>Coolen v. State</u>, 696 So.2d 738, 742 n.2 (Fla. 1997); <u>Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So.2d 1066, 1073 (Fla. 1990); <u>Roberts v.</u> <u>State</u>, 568 So.2d 1255, 1260 (Fla. 1990).

There is also no merit to any complaint about the applicability of the under imprisonment aggravator. Colleen Poole, a parole supervisor with the Department of Corrections, testified at the penalty phase that Lawrence was given a conditional release from state prison on January 10, 1994; that he would be under state supervision until October 18, 1995; that he was under such supervision on July 28, 1994, the date of this murder; and that he was released from prison on conditions, violation of which would result in his being sent back to prison. (DAR III 455-56). These support finding under sentence of facts imprisonment in aggravation, and this Court affirmed that aggravator on direct appeal. <u>See Lawrence</u>, 698 So.2d at 1221-22. As the circuit court found, Lawrence's conclusory allegations warrant only summary

- 36 -

denial. <u>See Asay</u>, 769 So.2d at 989. The court's ruling should be affirmed.

<u>issue v</u>

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT REQUESTING THE APPOINTMENT OF CO-COUNSEL.

In claim A8 of his amended motion Lawrence argued that trial counsel was ineffective for not seeking the appointment of cocounsel. (I 25). The circuit court summarily denied the claim because "the Florida Supreme Court does not recognize а Constitutional right to co-counsel or second chair counsel for the Defendant in capital cases. Jimenez v. State, 703 So.2d 437 (Fla. 1997)." (I 108). See also Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050 (Fla. 2000); Ferrell v. State, 653 So.2d 367 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1123 (1997); Lowe v. State, 650 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 857 (1995); Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 514 U.S. 1085 (1995). Lawrence acknowledges that appointment of co-counsel in capital cases is discretionary with the courts. (Initial brief at 39). However, he states: "Due to its particular nature a bifurcated death trial is so complex that the issues of guilt and penalty must be under taken by separate counsel." (Initial brief at 39-40). He also urges the Court to adopt a mandatory co-counsel rule for capital cases and

- 37 -

states that the instant trial court abused its discretion in failing to appoint co-counsel. (Initial brief at 40).

The request for a mandatory rule and the allegation that the court abused its discretion by not appointing co-counsel (apparently on its own motion) are raised for the first time in this appeal. Claims raised for the first time on appeal, however, are procedurally barred. <u>See Shere v. State</u>, 742 So.2d 215 (Fla. 1999); <u>Doyle v. State</u>, 526 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1988). The last two claims in this issue, therefore, should be summarily denied.

As alleged in the amended motion, "Defendant's counsel was inadequately prepared for a death penalty as he was not assisted by death penalty counsel." (I 25). That single conclusory sentence, totally unsupported by facts, is insufficient to state a claim for relief. See Asay, 769 So.2d at 989 (summary denial is proper "for failure to comply with the requirement in rule 3.850(c)(6) that defendants allege 'a brief statement of the facts (and other conditions) relied on in support of the motion." The claim ignores the fact that at the penalty phase counsel presented Lawrence's school and prison records (DAR III 460), testimony from Lawrence's brother, a psychologist, and a psychiatrist (DAR III 461; 494; 496), and argued strenuously that Lawrence should not be sentenced to death. (DAR III 532). Lawrence has failed to show any error in the circuit court's summary denial of this conclusory and ill-pled claim, and that denial should be affirmed.

- 38 -

<u>ISSUE VI</u>

WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE REGARDING THE INSTRUCTION ON THE UNDER SENTENCE OF IMPRISONMENT AGGRAVATOR.

Claim L of the amended postconviction motion alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the instruction given on the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator or to proffer "adequate" instructions. (I 32). The circuit court summarily denied the claim because it had been included to preserve the jury instruction complaint for future federal proceedings. (I 111-12). This holding should be affirmed.

This claim is procedurally barred because, if preserved, it could have been raised on direct appeal. <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 768 So.2d 1037, 1040 n.3 (Fla. 2000); <u>Downs v. State</u>, 740 So.2d 506, 517 (Fla. 1999). However, the trial court gave the standard instruction on this aggravator, and that instruction has not been declared invalid. Counsel, therefore, cannot be deemed ineffective. <u>See Waterhouse</u>, slip op. at 38-39; <u>Downs</u>, 740 So.2d at 517-18; <u>Mendyk v. State</u>, 592 So.2d 1076, 1080 (Fla. 1992). No relief is warranted on this issue.

- 39 -

CONCLUSION

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